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Introduction

The accidental discovery of four subterranean vaults during excavation of the vacant lot
at 33 Ten Eyck Street (the “project site”) necessitated the creation of a Phase I1A
Archaeological Assessment (the “Report”) in order to investigate the historic
significance of these structures and to make recommendations for the mitigation of the
projected negative impacts of the proposed construction. The report, prepared by Celia
J. Bergoffen, Ph.D., R.P.A., dated May 28, 2015, found that the vaults were previously
used for cold-aging the lager beer produced by Sebastian Schnaderbeck in his
“Schnaderbeck Brewery”. Established by 1860, the brewery comprised both the former
building on the project site and another, still extant, on the adjacent lot 18, fronting on
Maujer Street (Fig. 2). Schnaderbeck’s brewery was one of only four lager breweries
established before 1860 in Williamsburg, making it one of the earliest in this district,
which would become the center of lager beer production in New York City during the
1860s and 70s. Only one other surviving subterranean lager vault in Williamsburg was
documented in the course of research for the Phase IA Archaeological Assessment (the
former Nassau Brewing Company at 1042 Dean Street, block 1142, lot 40). The
assessment therefore concluded, in view of these findings and the vaults’ excellent
state of preservation, that these structures vaults were historically significant.
Furthermore, the LPC and SHPO, which reviewed the report, determined that the site is
eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places for its association with
German ethnic heritage and industry, and for the data it provides on the architecture of
lager cellars. Map research conducted for the report noted that a building had stood on
the site, over the vaults, from the time of Schnaderbeck’s brewery until between 1982
and 1984, when it was demolished.

The development plan called for the filling of vaults 1, 2 and 3 with flowable concrete,
leaving vault 4 in its original condition but without access from the surface. Since this
plan entailed adverse effects to the architectural integrity and archaeological research
potential of the vaults, it was agreed by all parties to the Memorandum of Agreement,
executed on September 16, 2016, that the project sponsor would provide access to the
vaults so that a Registered Professional Archaeologist could document them in



accordance with the standards of the Historic American Buildings Survey / Historic
American Engineering Record (“HABS /HAER?”) prior to any construction work that
would negatively impact the archaeological integrity of the site (Appendix A). This level
of documentation was indicated because of the site’s eligibility for listing on the National
Register of Historic Places.

In order to provide the best possible conditions to document the architecture in
accordance with the HABS/HAER standards of recordation, the MOA further stipulated
that the project sponsor would remove the soil cover from the top of the three vaults
proposed to be filled and built over, leaving the fourth, which will not be impacted by the
proposed construction, buried. The excavation began on July 27, 2016 and was
completed, together with the taking of measurements and photography for the HABS /
HAER documentation, on September 7, 2016.

The present report is an account of the archaeological monitoring of the soil removal on
the project site and a description and interpretation of the architectural features that
were revealed.

For the photographic record, which will be submitted as part of the HABS / HAER
documentation, Christopher D. Brazee took black and white and color photographs of
both the vault interiors and the tops of the vaults. Further, we made a complete set of
videos of the vault interiors, and hired Petr Heyl, Owner of NotADrone.com, to make a
video of the top of the vaults using a drone. These videos will be used to create a 3D
model of the architecture, using the structure from motion process and Agisoft
PhotoScan software. The computer modelling will be completed by Matthias Kolbe, a
surveyor and archaeologist based in Berlin. The videography on the interior of the vaults
was conducted by Celia Bergoffen and Arnulf Hausleiter, Research Archaeologist at the
German Archaeological Institute in Berlin, who was a Visiting Research Scholar at the
Institute for the Study of the Ancient World at New York University during the academic
year, 2015-2016. The black and white photographs, 3D models, archival quality inked
drawings of the plans on Figs. 3 and 4, and a narrative elucidating this material will be
submitted to SHPO separately, to fulfill the requirements of the HABS / HAER
documentation.

Report on the archaeological monitoring

Archaeologists Celia J. Bergoffen Ph.D. RPA and Diane George RPA conducted the
archaeological monitoring of the soil removal from the tops of the vault. The excavation,
together with the measuring and drawing of the exposed structures, began on July 27,
2016, continued through August, and ended on September 7, 2016. Most of the work
was done using a backhoe, with hand excavation used to clean the tops of the



structures in order both to clarify their construction and to prepare the site for
photography.

At the beginning of the excavation, there was an earth ramp on the east side of the lot
providing access to the site (Fig. 1). The rest of the lot had been dug out to a depth of
approximately 6.0 to 8.0 feet below grade, except for a small area in the southwest of
the lot, where an entrance to the vaults was first discovered, which was excavated to
approximately 14.0 feet below grade. The circular opening in the crown of the
southernmost vault, vault 1, was originally one of the chimney-vents on top of the vaults
(see below). It was enlarged by the workmen to permit access, and covered by a ply
wood, box-like structure.

In order to avoid possibly undermining the adjacent buildings on Maujer Street, and
because there was no plan to fill vault 4 with concrete, leaving its future research
potential intact, the MOA stipulated that only the soil over vaults 1, 2, and 3 should be
removed, leaving vault 4 buried. Accordingly, in order to work back towards the ramp
and the street, the excavation began at the southwest corner of the lot, approximately
20.0 to 24.0 feet south of the north lot line. Reddish-brown, silty sand mixed with
demolition debris, including charred brick, iron, and plaster, indicated that the soil
deposited above the vaults consisted of mixed fills.

It had previously been noted, on the interior of the vaults, that the ceiling of each vault
was pierced roughly in the center by a circular opening, which we assumed was the
base of a chimney.

Vault 3 chimney

On July 27, the chimney on top of vault 3 was excavated, together with the soils over
the vault (Figs. 5 and 6). The top of the vault 3 chimney was encountered approximately
6.0 feet below grade, 20.0 feet east of the west lot line and 64.0 feet north of the south
lot line. The chimney was built of two concentric rings of whole and partial bricks laid in
stretcher courses with copious amounts of mortar (Fig. 5). Some of the bricks appeared
to be overfired, possibly clinkers, while the curvature of the structure was achieved by
using broken bricks. The opening at the chimney’s top was 11.0 inches in diameter, and
the diameter, to the outer edge was 27.0 inches. The soils removed around the vault 3
chimney also contained demolition debris consisting of plaster, brick and granite
fragments. The excavation of the vault 3 chimney was completed on August 5. Its
preserved height was 7.35 feet. The chimney’s profile was bulbous or hourglass
shaped: wider at the base and tapering to the top. At 3.0 feet below the top, the
diameter was 27.7 inches (7.25 feet circumference). At the base, the diameter was 34.8
inches or 9.1 feet in circumference.



On July 27, the location of the vault 2 chimney -- not preserved, except for a small
section near the base and a short broken section balanced over it -- was noted on the
surface by a slight depression at the approximate point where measurements on the
vault’s interior had indicated. This chimney was excavated on August 5" (Fig. 12).

While taking measurements inside the vaults, a fragment of a ceramic plate with the
mark “Thomas Hu... Burslem”, and a neckless beer bottle embossed, “WELZ &
ZERWECK BREWERS BROOKLYN. N.Y.” were noted. These finds were not kept.

Piers 1 and 2 (P1 and P2)

Following a three-day hiatus during which the workers removed a construction shed and
building materials from the site, excavation resumed on August 2 at the northwest
corner of the excavation trench. The reddish brown silty sand contained pebbles and
small cobbles together with brick — some charred -- and plaster detritus, pieces of
machinery, iron fragments and tar paper. In the course of clearing an approximately
seven-foot strip north of the vault 3 chimney, the tops of two brick piers, piers 1 and 2,
were encountered, approximately 23 feet south of the north lot line, the western one
about 14.5 feet east, and eastern one 29.0 feet east, of the west lot line (Fig. 6). The
piers were built in three sections diminishing in size from bottom to top, the lowest
capped by a 3.0-inch-thick granite slab. The top section of the west pier, pier 1, of which
3.2 feet in height was preserved, measured 2.0 feet north-south by 1.3 feet east-west. It
was centered east-west on the middle section, but set back 13.0 inches from the latter’s
south face, and 1.0 inch from its north face. The middle section, exposed on August 4™,
was 5.7 feet high, and measured 3.2 feet north-south by 2.4 feet east-west. The bricks
used in the piers measured 8.25 by 3.5 by 2.25 inches.

On August 3, excavation continued in the northwest of the lot and east of pier 2. The
center of the dirt ramp leading to the rear of the lot was pulled back to the east side of
the lot. On August 4, just enough soil was removed north of piers 1 and 2 to expose
their north faces down to the top of the wall between vaults 3 and 4, on which they
stood. The east face of the east pier, pier 2, was also completely excavated, next to the
northeastern baulk of the excavation trench. The top section of pier 2, which was
broken, measured 3.3 feet; the middle section, 6.0 feet, and the lowest, 4.0 feet. Some
water had collected in the soil immediately above the vault roof, above the thick,
waterproof layer of plaster covering the top of the vaults. Building debris, including tar
paper, iron fragments and plastic were found in the soil above the vault roof, no doubt
the detritus from the building that formerly stood above the vaults.



Most of the faces were built of a single row of stretchers laid on end, but in some
instances, the pattern was interrupted by headers (Fig. 13). The solid cores were
composed of bricks laid in groups of headers and stretchers. As in the chimneys, there
were thick layers of mortar between the brick courses. The variety of bricklaying
techniques used in the vaults’ construction was especially evident in the interiors in the
arches over the doorways and shaft openings, which were built of both voussoirs and
stretchers, sometimes even half and half in the same arch (Report pp. 6-7). The variety
of bricklaying patterns indicates the work of several different bricklayers with no
imposition of a standard technique.

West wall

On August 5, the earth over vault 3 was removed to the west lot line. The vault abuts
the two-foot wide, west end wall. This mostly stone and mortar built wall continued
above the vault’s crown and was evidently the outer wall of the basement level of the
building that stood on the lot until ca. 1982 (Fig. 9). The backhoe operator, Kenny Lin,
told us that the soil above the west wall had previously been removed along its entire
length in order to insert a concrete footing under the building on the adjacent lot. The
soil over the west wall was removed in stages until it was completely exposed, and
photographed, on August 18™. The stone wall was punctuated by rectangular sections
of brick surrounding the shafts that opened near the floor of the vaults and just below
the vault ceilings. These took up the full width of the wall (see further below).

On this day we also encountered a third pier, south of pier 1, and part of the vaults’ east
wall, at the northern edge of the excavation trench, over middle of vault 3.

Shaft features

The Report had noted that the west and east walls in each vault contained a vertical
brick shaft, whose inner face was observed running floor to ceiling. Its bricks were laid
between the stone courses. Each shaft had an arch-shaped opening at the bottom, just
above the floor. There was also a second, window-like opening on each east and west
wall in every vault. This rectangular feature was only partially blocked above. On the
west wall of vault 3, its open, inner face was crossed by the curved roof of the vault, but
in other vaults, the front top of the openings had a decorative brick border. The method
of constructing these features was first revealed on August 5", when the broken top of
the west wall of vault 3 was uncovered (above). Both the chimney-like shaft on the
south side of the west wall, and the window-like upper opening on the north side of the
wall, were built of two rows of bricks, and both took up the full width of the outer walls.
When, later in the excavation, more of the east wall was exposed, we learned that the



construction of these features was not consistent, with sometimes only one row of
bricks enclosing the shaft, and these single rows built of bricks laid on end.

As the rest of the west wall of the vaults was exposed, the tops of other shafts and
openings in vaults 2 and 1, appeared. We did not observe any openings on the faces of
the brick shafts above the roofs of the vaults. We can only surmise that they continued
further up through the walls to open on a higher level or story, or on the building’s roof.

Concrete slabs over the west wall

One of the openings was however covered with a concrete slab that appears to be part
of the same surface as found at the southern end of the west wall partly overlapping the
south wall (Figs. 4 and 14). There was a layer of dirt below the latter slab, above the
preserved base of the west and south walls. Plastic debris found in this layer indicates
that it postdates the period of the vault's use as a lager cellar but it was not determined
when the concrete was laid. Presumably it served as a basement floor in some later
phase of the building that stood above the vaults. The southeast-northwest course of
the east wall depicted on the 1868 Higginson’s map and measured in the vaults’ interior,
is shown on all the maps through 1982, indicating that the exterior walls of the original
building survived until the structure was finally destroyed.

Basement plan of the vaults (Fig. 3)

On August 9", we determined that the thickness of the roof of vault 3, as measured from
the top of the chimney opening, was 1.3 feet and the height of the vault, from the west
side of the chimney opening to the floor, was approximately 13.9 feet. On this day we
also took measurements on the vault interiors, including the length of each wall, the
diagonal lengths between the northwest and southeast, and northeast and southwest
corners of each vault, the heights of the openings of the shaft and “window” features in
the west and east walls of each vault, and the width of the doorways. The different vault
lengths had been previously noted and recorded on the plan, which appears in the Figs.
3 and 4 of the Report. But from the diagonal measurements, we realized that the east
wall of the vaults ran diagonally southeast to northwest, as shown on the earliest map,
the 1868 Higgison’s, and was not stepped, as shown on the plan in the Report.

Earth removal from the site

At this point, we could not continue excavating without first removing the back dirt that
had been piled up on the east side of the lot. August 10t was therefore spent in moving



the dirt off the site, by the truckload. This operation continued on August 11, 12 and 15.
The last four truckloads of earth were removed from the site on August 19.

East wall

The north end of the east wall of the vaults, first discovered on August 5, was excavated
on August 11. In the northern baulk of the excavation trench, we noted that the wall was
preserved to approximately 13.0 feet, much higher than the between 2.6 to 4.1-foot-high
section we were able to expose over the south side of vault 3. The east wall, like the
west, was 1.9 feet thick. Soil was removed from the east side of this wall as well,
providing a view of both faces (Fig. 10). The opening of the shaft in the east wall of vault
3 was lined with only one course of bricks on its interior (west) face, laid on edge. The
rectangular opening measured 2.0 feet by 1.1 feet. Later on, on August 17", we noted
that clinkers and smaller stones had been used to fill the space between the wall’s two
stone faces. This was not the case in the west wall, where we were able to observe only
two tightly packed rows of roughly dressed stone with no noticeable interstices. The
openings for the shafts were also built differently, as already noted above.

As more of the east wall was exposed, moving southward, its southeast to northwest
orientation became clearly visible.

Piers 3, 4 and 5 (P3, P4 and P5)

We continued the excavation of the third pier, found on August 5™, and discovered a
fourth and a fifth pier (pier 4 and pier 5), roughly in line with pier 3, all standing on/over
the wall between vault 2 and vault 3 (Figs. 7 and 8). The piers are almost exactly the
same size, 3.0 by 3.0 feet and set 7.9 feet apart and from the east wall, but there are
8.5 feet between pier 3 and the west wall. Pier 5 was preserved to a height of 2.95 ft.

The east wall of the vaults also exposed further to the south, over the trough between
vault 2 and vault 3. Between the east wall and pier 4, there was a notable quantity of
brick and stone debris, including small and medium-sized cobbles, some roughly
dressed. This was interpreted as having fallen from the east wall. There were also
chunks brickwork possibly from the upper portions of the piers. The west wall was
cleared further to the south. We began excavating the fill over vault 2 and found its
chimney, broken in situ, the broken section having slid slightly north of its base (Fig. 12).
The diameter was approximately 29.5 inches.

On August 15, we began removing the soil south of vault 2 and found the top of pier 6.



Excavation for the raker, backfilling of the west wall

The engineers had decided that a raker needed to be installed from the baulk below the
sidewalk to the top of vault 1 and we therefore excavated the area where the concrete
block supporting the raker would be built, approximately 20.0 feet east of the west
property line, south of the opening to vault 1, and measuring approximately 7.6 feet
north-south and 11.0 feet east-west. This section of the top of the vault was
photographed prior to being covered by concrete.

August 16 and 17 were spent largely in photographing the piers. The frame for the
concrete slab for the raker was built, and the rest of the area that had been dug out in
this section was backfilled.

A further portion of the top of the east wall over vault 3 and between vault 3 and vault 2
was cleared, and excavation was begun at the southwest corner of the site, where we
began to expose the vaults’ south wall.

On August 18™, the west wall was backfilled in order to create a “safety” berm for the
building on the adjacent lot.

Piers 6, 7 and 8 (P6, P7 and P8)

The top of pier 7, north of vault 1 was discovered, on August 18 and the south wall was
exposed as far as the concreted section for the raker. Pier 6 (found on August 15), was
preserved to a height of 4.38 feet, and pier 7, to a height of 4.58 feet.

On August 19, we removed the remaining soil covering the east end of vault 1 and vault
2 and encountered pier 8. The preserved height of pier 8 was 3.92 feet. Like piers 3, 4
and 5, discovered earlier, piers 6, 7, 8 were roughly in west-east alignment and stood
on / over the wall between two vaults, in this case, between vault 1 and vault 2.

South wall

The south face of the vaults’ south wall ran flush along the south lot line. This abutment
wall may have been built against the south brick wall of vault 1, although we were not
able to determine its exact structural relationship to the latter. The corresponding north
wall of the complex was not exposed for fear of undermining the building on the



adjacent lot. Like the west and east perimeter walls, the south wall was 2.0 feet wide
and built of roughly dressed stone.

Although there was also, in the interior of vault 1, a brick-capped opening in the stone
base of its south face, no corresponding opening was observed on the top of the vault
or top of the abutment / south wall. On the top of the vaults we observed that the space
between the abutment wall and the haunch of the vault had been filled with large and
small cobbles and covered with a thick layer of plaster (Fig. 11).

Summary of the results of the archaeological monitoring

Exposing the top of the structures clarified the construction and possible purpose of
several enigmatic architectural features discussed in this report. This new information,
together with detailed measurements made both inside and on top of the vaults,
permitted the revision of some observations made in the Report, and the correction of
the architect’s plans, which were included in the Report as Figs. 3, 4, and 5. Still and
video images were made of the tops of the vaults, including drone photography. These
will be combined with the full video imaging of the interior to produce 3D models, which
will be submitted as part of the HABS/HAER documentation.
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Fig. 1. View of the project site at the start of excavations, July 27, 2016.

Fig. 2. 1868 Higginson’s map of the project site showing the Schnaderbeck Brewery.
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looking north.



Fig. 10. View of the exterior face of the east wall looking west.

Fig. 11. View of the south wall and the stone packing, original covered by plaster, filling
the space between the wall and the springing of the vault.

Fig. 12. View of the broken chimney on vault 2.

Fig. 13. View of pier 5 after demolition of the superstructure showing the bricklaying
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Fig. 2. 1868 Higginson’s map of the project site showing the Schnaderbeck Brewery.
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Fig. 6. View of pier 1, pier 2, and the chimney on vault 3 looking northeast.
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Fig. 7. View of the top of the vaults at the end of excavation looking south.




Fig. 8. Aerial

view of the top of the vaults at the end of excavation.
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Fig. 9. View of the top of the vaults during excavation with the west wall exposed,
looking north.



Fig. 10. View of the exterior face of the east wall looking west.

Fig. 11. View of the south wall and the stone packing, originally covered by plaster,
filling the space between the wall and the springing of the vault.



Fig. 13. View of pier 5 after demolition of the superstructure showing the
bricklaying technique.



Fig. 14. View of the concrete slab covering at the corner of the west and south walls.
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MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT
REGARDING THE PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW BUILDING LOCATED AT
33 TEN EYCK STREET, BROOKLYN, KINGS COUNTY, NY



MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT
REGARDING THE PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW BUILDING LOCATED AT
33 TEN EYCK STREET, BROOKLYN, KINGS COUNTY, NY

BETWEEN

THE CITY OF NEW YORK, ACTING BY AND THROUGH ITS DEPARTMENT OF
HOUSING PRESERVATION AND DEVELLOPMENT,

NEW YORK STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE,
NEW YORK CITY LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION, AND

188 PARTNERS, LLC

Dated _f\/&_ _/% day ofcg%/ﬁ’qécf 2016

WHEREAS, construction financing, including City capital and private equity bond funding, as
well as Federal assistance in the form of Project-based Section 8 vouchers and HOME
Investment Partnership Program funding from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development (“HUD”), was provided through The City of New York (the “City”), acting by and
through its Department of Housing Preservation and Development (“HPD”) and New York City
Housing Development Corporation (“HDC”) in June, 2014, in connection with the construction
ol a lour-story, cighteen-unit affordable housing development (the “Proposed Project) on
approximately 7,500 square feet of formerly City-owned property at 33 Ten Eyck Street (Block
2791, Lot 37 on the City’s tax map) in the neighborhood of Williamsburg, Borough of Brooklyn,
City and State of New York (the “Project Site””) by 188 Partners, LLC (“Project Sponsor”); and

WHEREAS, the Project Site is part of an overall development described in a certain land
disposition agreement between the City, Project Sponsor and HP Yuco Housing Development
Fund Company, Inc. (the *“HDFC”) dated June 30, 2014 and recorded against the Project Site and
certain additional real property described therein (collectively, the “Disposition Area” and such
agreement, the “LDA™) and the City conveyed the Project Site along with the remainder of the
Disposition Area to the HDFC by deed dated June 30, 2014 and recorded against the Project Site
as well as the remainder of the Disposition Area; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Declaration of Interest and Nominee Agreement by and between the
HDFC and Project Sponsor dated June 30, 2014, the HDFC holds nominal title to the Project Site
and the remainder of the Disposition Area and Project Sponsor holds beneficial title to the
Project Site and.thewemainder of the Disposition Area; and

WHEREAS, HPD served as the Lead Agency and Responsible Entity (the “RE”) for the
Proposed Project’s environmental reviews pursuant to City Environmental Quality Review
(“CEQR”) and HUD’s environmental review regulations found at 24 CFR Part 58, respectively;

and
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WHEREAS, pursuant to 24 CFR Part 58, an Environment Assessment (an “EA”) was conducted
that included consultation with New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission (“LPC”)
and the New York State Historic Preservation Office (“SHPO”); and

WHEREAS, the EA and consultations determined that, in accordance with Section 106 of the
National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (“Section 106™), the Proposed Project would not
result in impacts to architectural or archaeological resources and HPD therefore issued a Finding
of No Significant Impact (a “FONSI”™) on May 30, 2014; and

WHEREAS, after the commencement of construction of the Proposed Project, Project Sponsor
discovered previously unknown archaeological resources on the Project Site, beginning
approximately 14 feet below grade and consisting of four joined subterranean vaults (the
“Vaults”, each individual vault hereinafter referred to as a “Vault”), in a satisfactory state of
preservation, built of brick on mortared stone foundations with brick pavements and mortared
stone end walls; and

WHEREAS, the Vaults are approximately 12 feet 8 inches high on the interior (measured from
floor to ceiling), with two Vaults measuring 45 by 22 feet in floor area and the other two Vaults
measuring 40 by 22 feet in floor area, each with a small opening in the crown, the southernmost
Vault opening providing access to all but the fourth, northernmost Vault, which is largely filled
with brick debris; and

WHEREAS, in view of the discovery of these archaeological resources, construction on the
Project Site was suspended and consultation with SHPO and LPC reinitiated and, for the
purposes of Section 106, the Area of Potential Effect (the “APE”) was identified as the entire
area of the Project Site; and

WHEREAS, the historic land use of the Project Site was researched by Celia J. Bergoffen Ph.D.
R.P.A. (“Archaeologist”) and set forth in the Phase I4 Archaeological Assessment, Block 2791,
Lot 37, 33 Ten Eyck Street, Borough of Brooklyn, New York; May 28, 2015, attached hereto as
Appendix A and made a part hereof (the “Phase IA Archaeological Assessment”), according to
the requirements of CEQR as well as the State Environmental Quality Review Act (“SEQRA”);

and

WHEREAS, the Phase 1A Archaeological Assessment found that the Vaults were previously
used for cold-aging the lager beer that Sebastian Schnaderbeck produced in his "Schnaderbeck
Brewery", established by 1860 on the Project Site as well as in the extant building on the
adjacent Lot 18 on Maujer Street; and

WHEREAS, Schnaderbeck's brewery was one of only four lager breweries established before
1860 in Williamsburg, making it one of the earliest in this district, which would become the
center of lager beer production in New York City during the 1860s and 70s; and

WHEREAS, only one other surviving, subterranean lager vault in Williamsburg was
documented in the course of research for the Phase IA Archaeological Assessment; and
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WHEREAS, the Phase 1A Archaeological Assessment concluded, in view of these findings and
the Schnaderbeck Brewery Vault's state of preservation, that these structures were historically
significant; and

WHEREAS, LPC and SHPO reviewed the Phase IA Archaeological Assessment, concurred
with its findings and recommendations, and SHPO assigned the site of the Schnaderbeck
Brewery Vaults (the “Schnaderbeck Brewery Vaults Site™) the Unique Site Number USN
04701.018779, and

WHEREAS, during consultations with SHPO and LPC, HPD determined that the discovery of
the Schnaderbeck Brewery Vaults Site is eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic
Places for its association with German ethnic heritage and industry and for its archaeological
data; and

WHEREAS, the SHPO and LPC recommended that adverse effects to the architectural integrity
and archaceological research potential of the Schnaderbeck Brewery Vaults Site should be
mitigated; and

WHEREAS, in view of the findings and recommendations of the Phase IA Archaeological
Assessment and consultations with SHPO and LPC, all parties involved in the review process
concurred that appropriate measures should be developed and implemented to mitigate the
Proposed Project's adverse effects on the Project Site; and

WHEREAS, due to the existence of the Vaults and the findings and recommendations of the
Phase 1A Archacological Assessment and in consultation with SHPO and LPC, SHPO and LPC
recommended that Project Sponsor revise and modify its original development plan for the
Project Site in order to mitigate the Proposed Project's adverse effects on the Vaults as much as
possible and to provide a stable foundation for the Proposed Project’s four-story building; and

WHEREAS, Project Sponsor, at its sole cost and expense, assembled a team of engineers and
consultants to create an alternative design and to estimate associated costs, and reviewed and
discussed these with HPD's Division of Multifamily New Construction Finance and HPD’s Chief
Engineer; and

WHEREAS, in order to validate the alternative design and confirm required conditions, Project
Sponsor conducted soils testing, core drilling, and additional selective excavation of the vault
footings and walls positioned along the adjacent property, and determined that the Vaults could
be left partially intact however there would be no further access to the Vaults upon
commencement of the construction of the Proposed Project’s foundation;

NOW, THEREFORE, HPD, SHPO, LPC and Project Sponsor have agreed that the Proposed
Project shall be implemented as set forth herein in this Memorandum of Agreement (this

“MOA"), as follows:

A. Revised Construction Plan
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In order to preserve the Vaults to the greatest extent possible, a revised plan for the Proposed
Project labeled "Scheme A", appended hereto as Appendix B and made a part hereof, shall be
adopted and implemented.

The new building will be constructed directly on top of three of the Vault structures. In order to
stabilize the Vault structures, it will be necessary to fill three of the four Vaults with a
lightweight concrete material. Once the three Vaults have been filled there will be no further
access to these Vaults, a series of reinforced concrete "grade" beams will be constructed on top
of the Vault structures, with supporting conctete piers set directly on the Vault walls, to
adequately distribute the building load across the Vaults. Then the building foundation will be
constructed directly on top of the grade beams and piers.

The existing openings at the top of the Vaults will be filled with flowable concrete fill.

The construction and filling operations described above, while preserving the Vaults, are not
reversible and the filled Vaults will become permanently inaccessible.

The fourth, northernmost Vault will not be filled with concrete but shall be left in its current “as
is" condition; however, no means of access will be built and the interior of this Vault will
therefore also become, effectively, inaccessible.

B. Investigation and Documentation

Prior to the Vaults being filled with flowable concrete fill and any construction of beams or piers
being commenced, Project Sponsor shall provide the Archeologist access to the Vaults to
document them in accordance with the standards of the Historic American Buildings Survey /
Historic American Engineering Record (“HABS/HAER”).

The scope of work for the HABS/HAER documentation will require approval by SHPO and LPC
prior to the work being carried out. The final documentation will be submitted to HPD, SHPO,

and LPC prior to any disturbance to the Vaults.

In order to comply with the foregoing access requirement, Project Sponsor will provide access to
the Vaults in their current “as is” condition without the requirement for further excavation or
work by Project Sponsor. However, Project Sponsor shall remove soil cover from the top of the
three Vaults proposed to be filled and constructed over, as reasonably practical and economically
viable using mechanical equipment, in order to expose the location where the concrete piers are
to be set on top of the Vault walls, which shall provide access to the Archaeologist to allow for
photographic documentation of the exterior of the Vaults to the extent they are exposed. In
addition, Project Sponsor shall ensure that any debris or other obstructions located in the Vaults
is moved as reasonably practical and economically viable, in order to provide adequate access to
the Archaeologist and allow for photographic documentation of the interior spaces of all four
Vaults. The level of effort required to provide access to the Archaeologist (removal of exterior
soil cover and movement of any interior debris or other obstructions) shall be reviewed and
agreed upon by HPD, SHPO, and LPC, in accordance with the terms of this MOA.



33 Ten Eyck Street Memorandum of Agreement

C. Archaeological Monitoring

Project Sponsor shall ensure that archaeological monitoring by the Archaeologist shall be
conducted during the excavation activities required in connection with the construction of the
concrete piers. The Archaeologist will be granted access to the excavated areas to record and
collect samples if suitable materials, as determined by the Archaeologist, are uncovered. The
Archacologist shall prepare a comprehensive report draft presenting the results of the monitoring,
which shall be submitted to HPD, SHPO, and LPC for review and comment. A final report,
addressing agency comments will be submitted to HPD, SHPO, and LPC.

D. Submission of Project Sponsor's Testing Results

Project Sponsor shall provide copies to HPD, SHPO, LPC, and the Archaeologist of all boring
logs and analyses, sketch plans, photographs and other relevant materials in Project Sponsor’s
possession obtained in the course of testing site conditions through soils testing, core drilling,
and additional selective excavation of the Vault footings and walls positioned along the adjacent

property.
E. Amendment to Land Disposition Agreement

The DA shall be amended (an “Amended LDA”), the Amended LDA shall be recorded against
the Project Site (along with the remainder of the Disposition Area described in the LDA) and
shall provide, among other things, that subsequent to the completion of the Proposed Project on
the Project Site, no owner of the Project Site shall undertake any further construction or
development on the Project Site that would, in the opinion of SHPO, LPC and HPD, adversely
affect the preservation of the Vaults in their then current condition. Any such owner must give
written notice of any proposed further construction or development of the Project Site to SHPO,
LPC and HPD prior to the commencement of such proposed construction or development, and
each of SHPO, LPC and HPD must give its written consent thereto prior to the commencement
of any such proposed activity by such owner.

F. Additional Inadvertent Resource Discoveries

If during construction activities additional sections of the known archaeological resources on the
site, or previously unknown archaeological resources are discovered, all work in the immediate
vicinity of the discovery will be halted and SHPO, LPC and HPD shall be promptly informed
thereof. Work shall not resume in that area until an assessment of the discovery can be made and
additional mitigation measures, as needed, are agreed upon and implemented and with the prior
written consent of SHPO, LPC and HPD.

H. Term of Agreement

This MOA shall become effective after the date of the last signatory. This MOA and any
amendments shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their successors and assigns.
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I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Phase A archacological assessment of the project site on block 2791, lot 37, falls outside the normal
paramelters for these studies for two reasons:

First, the Landmarks Preservation Commission did not flag the project site for potential archaeological sensitivity
because in the past, a building covered the entire lot area and it was concluded that (he construction would have
destroyed any possible traces of prehistoric presence or any backyard features associated with 19th century
occupation. Prior to the 1840s, the area was farmland. Consequenily, the developer was not required to commission
an archacological assessment prior to undertaking excavation on the lot, The present archaeological assessment was
undertaken because the developer discovered impressive subterranean architectural remains, consisting of four
connected, vaulted chambers, and reached out to Celia J. Bergoffen, Ph.D. R.P.A. to make a determination whether
or not the architecture was historically significant. Both the Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) and the
New York City Department of Housing, Preservation & Development (NYC HPD) were contacted in order to
discuss what further steps, pending the recommendations of this repor(, might be considered for mitigating the
impact of the proposed construction on these architectural remains.

Secondly, this assessment is different from the standard Phase IA report because the site has already been partially
explored during the course of backhoe excavation for the proposed construction. We already know a great deal
about the historic architectural remains preserved on the site because the developer uncovered an entrance to the
vaults, thereby permitting the Director of Archaeology of the Landmarks Preservation Commission, Amanda
Sutphin, representatives from the NYC HPD, and Celia J. Bergoffen, author of the this report, lo enter and examine

their interiors,

The documentary research presented in the following report revealed that the vaults at 33 Ten Eyck were part of a
lager brewery established by Sebastian Schnaderbeck, which included buildings covering both lot 37 and the
adjacent lot 18 on Maujer Street. In the 1860s-70s, When Schnaderbeck was in business, Williamsburg was the
center of lager production in New York City. The creation of deep cellars or “lagering caves" was necessary for the
manufacture of lager, which requires aging at cold temperatures. Since Schnaderbeck's brewery was producing lager
by 1860, the vaults must have been constructed before that date. Only three other lager breweries are documented in
Williamsburg before 1860, making Schnaderbeck's one of the earliest lager producers in the district. Several dozen
other brewery vaults must have been built in Williamsburg during the 1860s to 1870s, but only one other surviving,
subterranean lager vault was documented in the course of the present research. This report therefore concludes that
the lager vaults on block 2791, lot 37, are historically significant and should be preserved. Detailed conclusions and
recommendations are presented in Section VT of this report.



1I. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT SITE AND PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

The project site is located on Block 2791, lot 37, corresponding to 33 Ten Eyck Street, in Williamsburg (Report
cover; Fig. I). This district is bounded north of North 7th Street by Greenpoint, on the east, by the Queens County
line, and on the south by Flushing Avenue. The part of Williamsburg containing (he project site is also sometimes
called Southside. Although block 2791 is oriented roughly northeast - southwest, the directions in this report have
been simplified to north for northeast, west for northwest, etc. Thus, block 2791 is bounded on the north by Maujer
Street (formerly Remsen Street); south by Ten Eyck Street (formerly Wyckolf Street), East by Lorimer Street, and
west by Union Avenue, Currently, the project site is vacant and partly excavated. Multi-family dwellings occupy the
lots on either side of it.

The project site is one of three co-developed and financed by Yuco Real Estate Company, Inc. and the NYCHPD to
create affordable housing for low-income families. The new four-story building proposed will contain eighteen
dwelling units as well as indoor and outdoor recreational spaces for the tenants' use. Its foolprint will extend the
entire width of the street frontage on Ten Eyck Street and approximately fifty-two feet into the lot. There will be a
full cellar level, completely below grade, with eight feet clear ceiling height, which will house mechanicel and
utility spaces, as required for support systems, as well as a laundry room and storage areas for building end tenant

use.

The entire area of the 75 foot wide and 100 foot deep lot has been partially excavated by backhoe, in parts of the
western side of the lot 10 depths of 12 feet. At this depth, subterranean brick and stone vaults were encountered and
the work was suspended pending archacological assessment and discussion with the Landmarks Preservation
Commission of potential measures that might be implemented to mitigate negative impacts on these historic
architectural features.

In the past twenty-five years, the project site block has undergone a dramalic transformation. The photographs
included in Historical Perspective [nc.'s Phase IA Archaeological Assessment for the Maujer Street Community
Development Plan show that in 1992, with the exception af the building adjoining the project site on the east, on lot
36, and the apartment building at the comer of Union Avenue, the entire north side of Ten Eyck Street on block
2791 was vacant (Historical Perspectives 1992, Photographs 2-4). In addition, many lots on the south side of Maujer
Streel were also empty, though the building adjoining the project site on the north, on lot 18, and with which it was
connected in the 19th century, survived (Historical Perspectives 1992, Photographs 5 and 6). In 1992, Alexander
Auto Parts and Atlas Knitwear Mills occupied the building on lot 18, these businesses reflecting the mixed
residential, commercial and light industrial character of the neighborhood that still existed at the time. Today, multi-
family dwellings stand on most of the formerly empty lots on block 2791. The building on lot 18 comains
apartments, Generally, multiple family dwellings and retail establishments have replaced many of the project site
area's old wholesalers and small manufactures.



111, DESCRIPTION OF THE VAULTS

The following description is based on the plans and sections of the vaults fumished by Bong Yu, PC-Engineer /
Architect (Figs. 3, 4 and 5), and on this writet's two site visits on April 3 and April 21, 2015,

The four joined vaults, here numbered 1 to 4, south (o north, are parallel to Ten Eyck Street and so oriented roughly
west - east (Fig. 4). The east side of vault 4 was largely filled and blocked by bricks and was less readily accessible
than the other three (Photograph12). The top and sides of the vaults are brick; the base and end walls of stone, and
the floor is brick paved (Photographs 3 1o 12). The end walls also contained brick features, which will be described
below. The vaults are all approximately 22 fect wide, but of unequal lengths. Vaults 1 and 2 measure 45.0 feet in
length while vaults 3 and 4 are 40.0 feet long. The brick vaults and their stone bases run up to and abut the stone end
walls, which were built against the openings. The stones are roughly dressed and of unequal sizes and shapes, laid in
more or less horizontal courses with a great deal of mortar. The bricks are mostly laid as stretches, interspersed here
and there by sections of headers, in no discernable pattern.

The width of the perimeler walls could not be measured, but a penciled note on the 1868 Higginson's map records
that the vaults' western wall, adjoining lot 141, was 16 inches (Fig. 2). Note that most of lot 141 was vacant at that
time, with only a small brick building at the (ront of the property. The northern wall of the vaults continues under
the north lot line. The three interior walls of the vaults are 3.0 feet thick. Each vault has a circular opening
measuring 2.0 (eet in diameter, presumably a vent, at the top center of the vault, The thickness of the crown of vault
1, at the vent opening, which is the current access point to the interior, is | foot 4 inches. The other wall thicknesses
shown on the section drawing are estimated, including the thickness of the brick-paved fioor.

The vaults are connected by 6 foot 10 inch wide, arched openings located near the eastern ends of the vaults' long
walls. Note that the passageways only the passageways between vaults 2 and 3 are aligned, while that between
vaults 1 and 2 is | foot 6 inches further east than the other two. A fourth opening, in the north wall of vault 4, is still
further east than the other three and only 9 inches from the vault's east wall. It may have been an exit, but since it
was completely blocked by brick detritus, this could not be verified. The arches are stilted, that is, slightly set back
from the edge of the top of the stone wall on which they rest, Clearly, they were buill to be sturdy rather than
beautiful, but in a most irregular manner. The bricks in the arch on the south wall of vault 3, for instance, are laid as
voussoirs on the left and corbelled on the right (Photograph 13)!

The base of the vaults, as noted, was built of roughly dressed stone blocks to a height varying between
approximately 46.0 and 50.0 inches. Like the rectangular openings piercing the stone end walls (below), the
openings in the south wall of vault 1 appear to have been cut into the stone wall (Photographs 4 and 5). The edges of
the openings are uneven, with bricks used to fill the gaps. The cut or broken edges of (he stones are especially
noticeable on the sides of the eastern opening. Note also the brick "plugs' on the left (east) side of western opening,
An arch composed of a double row of headers caps both openings. Three rows of stretchers fill the remaining gap
between the stone wall ends above the arch in the castern opening. Above this, built into the brick wall, is another
arch, aligned with the lower one, and also composed of a double row of headers, The westem opening needed only
one row of stretchers to close the gap. It two has a second arch above it, built into the brick wall above a complete
row of headers. The area below the arc is plugged with one and a half rows of headers. The double arches were
undoubtedly built to relieve the weight of the vault wall over the openings.

All eight end-walls were similarly equipped with rectangular openings cul into the stone walls. In each case, one
opening was focated at the top of the wall, on the right, the other, on the leR, at the floor. These openings were filled
with bricks, and there were piles of bricks below and in front of the openings, where they had fallen or rolled in

(Photographs 6, 8,9, 10 and 11).

The upper openings were clearly cut from the upper edge of the stone walls as the diagonal arcs of the vaults cross
the top of their frames. The jagged sides of all the openings, cxcept the neatly cut one in the west wall of vault 3
were filled in with brick (Photograph 10). The opening in the west wall of vault | was partly capped by a single row
of brick headers laid in a very shallow arch over the lefl top of the opening, Perhaps this was intended as a support
for the adjacent stone, which sits on two unevenly laid bricks filling the gap beneath it. A double arch composed of
headers elaborately caps the opening in the east wall of vault 3 (Photograph 14). Like the openings in the south wall



of vault 1, this was built between the brick-framed sides of the opening, which supported a wooden lintel. The
narrow board that served this purpose was found on the floor directly below the opening.

The lower openings were similarly framed by bricks at the side, where necessary, and capped by a brick arch made
of headers. Tn each case, between the top of the openings and the vaull, the stone wall was removed and the ragged
gap filled with bricks all the way 1o the top. Obviously, the openings in all the walls with their brick frames and
arches, and the brick fillings in the stone end walls, represent a later building phase.

Aside from piles of bricks fallen in through the openings in the end walls, there were a few metal buckets and pans
and a small amount of unidentifiable metal detritus.



IV. HISTORY OF THE PROJECT SITE LOT

The development of Williamsburg began at the tum of the 19th century when Richard M. Woodhul began running a
horse ferry from Corlear's Hook at the foot of Grand Street in Manhattan to a fanding place at present-day
Metropolitan Avenue (formerly called the "Long Island Road"). Speculating that the area would soon be built up,
Woodhull purchased land near the road to the ferry, the old "Bushwick Street", which he then renamed
"Williamsburg" in honor of the town's first surveyor, U.S. engineer Colonel Williams (Williams was a grand-
nephew of Benjamin Franklin; Armbruster 1942, 36). By 1812, when Thomas Morrell began running a second ferry
to Manhattan [rom the foot of Grand Street the settlement, then known as "Yorkton", extended only four blocks
north-south from North 2nd Avenue (Metropolitan Avenue) to South st Streel.

In 1833, Williamsburg was still a sparsely built-up village with rows of houses along North 2nd Avenue
(Metropotitan Avenue) and North 3rd Streets; along Kent Avenue south of Grand Street, and on the riverside
between Grand and South 2nd Streels (Armbruster 1942, 4-5). The cenler and most densely populated section of
Williamsburg at that time was the area of the 13th and 14th wards west of Union Avenue and the project site block,
which was still undeveloped land. In the later 1830s, about five hundred houses were erected in Williamsburg and a
further four hundred between 1843 and 1845, all west of the project site block's immediate area. In ca. 1840, there
was a "country place" at Ten Eyck and Union Avenue, with "many trees" and a vegetable garden (Armbruster 1912,
38). The 1844-45 USGS map shows that the streets and blocks had been planned as far east as Manhattan Avenue,
including the project site block, but later maps (below) indicate that they had not yet been developed. The built-up
portion of Williamsburg, diagonally shaded on the 1844-45 USGS map, extended eastwards only as far as the line of
Marcy Avenue approximately (the Brooklyn-Queens Expressway); south to South 9th Street and north to South 3rd
or 2nd Street.

The 1852 Field map still does not show any building on the project site, most of which is contained in the irregularly
shaped tract of J. Munson. The streel was however, was opened in that year (Historical Perspectives 1992, 35). A
small triangular section on the northeast side of the project site lot was the property of J.L. Graham. The eastern
boundary of Munson's lot, running diagonally southeast to northwest, follows the old farm line, as shown on the
1880 Bromley map, which indicates that most of the project site was part of James Scholes' farm. The 1854
Higginson's map, representing the town in 1853, also does not indicate any development on the project site block.
There must, however, have been at least one house near the project site by that date, on the north side of Ten Eyck,
since the 1853 Brooklyn Directory lists the carpenter James McLaughlin residing at the corner of WyckofT Street
and Lorimer Avenue,

Certainly, the 1852 Field Map and 1854 Higginson's maps represeat the end of an era. In 1852, the City of
Williamsburgh was established and on January 1, 1855, Williamsburgh, Brooklyn and Bushwick were consolidated
into the City of Brooklyn (Armbruster 1912, 38), The mid-1850s witnessed a dramatic increase in Williamsburg's
population and its housing stock. The Witliamsburg directory listings, first published in 1847, record an increase
from 5300 residents in 1850 to 10,925 in 1854 (Armbruster 1942, 6). The population increase in the project sile area
is signaled by the splitting of the Third ward -- which included the large area east of Union Avenue as far as
Bushwick Avenue - into the 5th ward, on lhe north, and 16th ward, to the south, with Ten Eyck Street (then called
Wyckoff Street), forming the boundary between the two. The project site block was thus at the southern edge of the
15th ward. By 1858, the Dripps map records that the 15th ward had been developed north and south of (and
including) the projectsite block, and up to four blocks east, to present-day Graham Avenue. The first major period
of development of the project site block, therefore, was belween ca. 1852/3 and 1857/58.

Sebastian Schnaderbeck established his brewery on the project site lot before the end of 1859 (Brooklyn Daily Eagle
1860). In 1860-61, its addresses were listed as 9 Wyckoff and 30 Remsen (33 Ten Eyck Street and 34-36 Maujer
Street, respectively; Brooklyn Directory 1860-61). Maps show the brewery building extending over both the project
site and the adjaceitt 1618, 1o the north, at 34-36 Maujer Strect. The 1860-61 directory calls the business a
“largerbeer brewery (sic)” named Schnaderbeck & Co., which also confirms that the vaulted cellar, necessary for the
lager brewing process, had been built by that date (Ibid., and see Section V below). The earliest tax assessments of
1866 list a "beer cellar" on the project site owned by Wilhelm Ockert and S. Schnaderbeck, although Schnaderbeck
was listed as the sole owner of the building on the Maujer Streel side of the brewery. On the 1868 Higginson's map,
the brewery building(s), running across the block from Ten Eyck Street to Maujer Street, are labeled



"Schnaderbeck's Brewery". The main brewery building, on Maujer Street, had a three-story section in the front,
while most of the rest of this lot together with most of the project site were occupied by a two-story building, Both
were built of brick. By 1868, a renovation was made 1o the eastern third of the brewery building on the project site,
replacing whatever was there with two storage buildings on the front and rear of the lot, connecled by a passageway.
This "blue building" was glued onto the original map and unfortunately it is not possible to determine what was
there previously, undemeath the update (Fig. 2). By 1870, rencvalions had become necessary to provide the “old and
extensive establishment” on Maujer Street with "the latest improvements" for lager production (Brooklyn Daily
Eagle 1870). Perhaps this seclion was part of that upgrade.

The brewery went out of business ca. 1877, and in the 1876-1880 tax assessments for the two-story building on the
project site there is a faint notation of “faclory”. The owner's name unfortunately is not legible, but he must had
some considerable problems with the building because its value dropped by & third from 1879 to 1880, from $6,000
10 $4,000, and a notation in the tax assessments records “in ruins 1880". However, Henry Hesse purchased the
property in May 1881 together with the building on Maujer Street, and continued to operate a factory in the two-
story building on the project site, which he presumable refurbished.

During Hesse's brief tenure and until 1884, the building on Maujer Street was still listed in the tax assessmenls as
the "S. Schnaderbeck brewery" though by 1883, it was a "mere wreck" (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1883, 9). The
Brooklyn Daily Eagle informs us that the Salvation Army was using the building as its barracks (Ibid.), The tax
assessments then noted, "Building in ruins 1884", and in the following year or two, its value fell from $13,000 w0
$6,000. Through all this, the footprint of the building remained unchanged: the same building appears on the 1886
Robinson map as on the 1868 Higginson's map, but without the "Brewery" notation.

The mystetious episode of the theater that was apparently never completed followed in the mid-1880s. There is a
pencil notation on the Higginson map on the brewery building: "to be altered to Theater" (Fig. 2), and the August 2,
1884 issue of The American Architect and Building News records a "Building Patent" for 34 and 46 Maujer Street,
with the note: “old Brewery altered lo Theater: cost $10,000; owner, C.S. Gray, DeKalb Ave., cor. Fort Greene PL"
Mr. Charles Gray only purchased part of the building from Henry Hesse in November 1884, and by 1888, he and
Henry Hesse were both out of it. Only the "framework of the parquet" floor had been laid. In the meantime, the
vacant building was cannibalized for its fixtures and “gutted” (Sanborn |887; Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1886). Work on
the theater resumed in 1886, at a cost of $75,000, with completion of a three-tier performance space scating two
thousand expected by Oclober Ist of that year (Brookiyn Daily Eagle 1886). This is the last we hear of the project.
At this low point in the brewery’s history, its thinty-foot decp cellars were “left exposed and without safeguards” and
a boy feil in and was “fatally injured" (ibid.) Was he small enough to fall through one of the ceiling vents in the
vaults? In view of their solid construction, it is unlikely that he felt through a breached vault roof. Perhaps he fell
down the same, thirty-foot deep shaft way where a worker had been killed some twenlty-five years earlier (Brooklyn

Daily Eagle 1860)?

In 1888, Henrietta Smadbeck purchased both the two-story "Factory" building on the project site and the three-story
"Brewery" on Maujer Streel, the latter still considered, in 1886, "one of the most substantially constructed buildings
in the Eastern Districl" (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1886). But in the same year, she sold the Maujer Street building to
Edward Clark, who added a fourth story and turned the brewery into a "Congress Hall" (Tax asscssments, Sanbomn
1887). According 1o the 1898 Hyde map it was a "Church". The 1904 Sanborn indicales that the front portion of the
building was then 4 stories and the rear, 3 stories. Clark was listed in the tax assessments for the Maujer Street
property through the 1890s, but.ihe. 1899 Sanborn map, notes in pencil "Congress Hall (closed)". By the late 1890s,
the building on the project site was wholly tumed over to storage for the "Kings Co. Storage Warchouse" (Sanbomn
1899, Belcher Hyde 1912). In 1904, o table manufacturer, probably the Gluck Bro's Table M'F'G named on the 1913
Sanbom, was slated 1o be installed on the first and second floors, leaving the third vacant (Sanborn 1904).

The 1904 Sanborn map and the 1912 Belcher Hyde map are the last Lo record a two-story building on Ten Eyck
Street, the Sanborm majiso nertihg the presence of a basement. AL that time, the building was occupied by a "Paper
Box Factoery" on the second floor, leaving the first floor for storage (Sanborn 1904). All the subsequent Sanborn
maps, from 1913 on, depict two one-story buildings on the project sile, semi-detached, like their predecessors, now
generously equipped with wire glass skylights. The 1913 and 1935 Sanborn maps also record a hydrant, in a
separale room at the southeast comer of the building, and a 275-gallon boiler tank on the other side of the wall
behind the hydrant. There is a WPA tax photograph of this undistinguished building, its plain facade dominalted by



two large entryways suitable for a garage, which purpose it served from ca. 1913 until at least as late as 1935
(Sanborn 1913, Hyde 1929, Sanborn 1935). It was then oceupied by a "Plumbing Fixture Assembly" (Sanborn 1950),
and from ca. 1950 to at least the mid-1960s by a "Whol Gro" (Wholesale Grocer, Sanbom 1965). This firm, Dyber
0il Co. Inc., was a "Wholesale Food Establishment Warchouse" whose business was "wholesale groceries and
packaging of edible oils" (Department of Buildings, Block and Lot file, Application for plumbing and Mechanical
work #2201, 1950). The building was demolished between 1982 and 1984 (Sanborn 1982, Sanborn 1984), The
building on lot 18, 34-36 Maujer Street, is now an apariment house.
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V. SEBASTIAN SCHNADERBECK AND LAGER BREWING IN WILLIAMSBURG

The 1850s saw the fist major influx of German immigrants -- including naturally brewers and others connected with
that business (Schlagel 1976, 18). In the late 1840s, German immigration lagged behind the Irish, who were fleging
the potato famine. But the number of Germans increased dramatically from 1851 on. Emst (1949, Table 9) provides
the following impressive figures (the percentages were calculated by this writer):

Year 185} 1852 1853 1854 1855 1856 1857 1858 | Total 1847-1860
German 69,919 | 118,611 | 119,644 | 176,986 | 52,892 | 56,113 | 80,974 | 31,874 | 979,575
immigrants

% of lotal U.S. | 24% 39% 42% 55% 39% 39% 44% 41% 37%
immigration

For comparison, Irish immigrants to the United States during this period accounted for 41% of the total.

Earlier in the 19th century, the Germans turned part of the Manhattan's Lower East Side into a *Klein Deutschland”
("Little Germany"), settling in the area that would struggle to house a burgeoning immigrant population throughout
the 19th and early 20th centuries. Before the introduction of Croton water in 1842, one of Brooklyn's attractions for
brewers was the availability of good waler, the principal ingredient needed to make decent beer (Schlagel 1976, 9).
Later, it was probably the availability of suitable housing and commercial space at advantageous prices that drew the
Germans across the East River). Both the German immigration and the establishment of German-style breweries had
a direct impact on the development of the project site, whose first recorded use was as a German lager brewery.

The largest concentralion of breweries -- between 1850 and 1880 some eleven businesses -- was immediately
southeast of the project sile along “Brewer's Row", which extended [rom Lorimer Street to Bushwick Place between
Scholes and Meserole Streets (Anderson 1976, 15). In 1873, there were 30 breweries in Brooklyn (Brooklyn Dally

Eagle 1873B).

Sebastian Schnaderbeck is first listed in the New York City Directory in 1847-48, making him among the German
'Forty-eighters", al least chronologically. The Forty-eighters were German intellectuals who participated in the 1848
revolution in Germany for a democratic, unified state. When (he revolution failed, many of its supporters fled to the
United States where their education and progressive views made many successful businessmen and community
lcaders. We don't know if Schnaderbeck was a political refugee, but during the Civil War, "Sebastian Schnaderbeck
Esq." was a liberal, convention-attending Republican (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1862). Otherwise, his career, politicalfy
and commercially, seems to have been respectable but not particularly distinguished. He started a wine import
business at 13 Spruce Street, forming a partnership in 1849/50 with his neighbor, August Krager, a "liqor" (sic)
merchant at 11 Spruce (Rode's New York City Directory 1850-51, Doggeit's New York City Partnership Directory
1849 & 1850). The firm was called "Shnaderbeck & Co." (sic). Krager was an even older German-New Yorker,
having first established a wine business at 102 Fulton Street already in 1845/46 (New Yark City Directory 1845-46).
While Krager lived in Manhattan, Schnaderbeck settled in Williamsburg from the first, although his address, alas,
was not recorded in the 1847-48 Directory (Doggett's New York City Directory 1847-48; Rode’s New York Business
Directory 1853-54), Schnaderbeck's earliest listed home address is 81 Second in 1855-56. When next we hear of
him, in 1858-59, he is residing at 97 Union Avenue (comer of South First Street, as noted in most of the directory
listings). Although workmen were sometimes accommodated in breweries at that time -- and partly paid in beer --
Schnaderbeck evidently did not live over his. Krager eventually moved to 49 South 1st Street in Williamsburg (Tax
assessment 1865). He remained Schnaderbeck's partner until he died, on September 6, 1865, al the age of 61, after a
long illness (Henry August Kraeger, New York Herald 1865). He was only about six years older than bis partner.

As noted in the previous section, Schnaderbeck established his Williamsburg brewery before the end of 1859
(Brooklye Daily Eagle 1860), and apparently closed the business at 11 Spruce Street ca. 1858-59, since this is the
last year it was listed in the New York City Directory. His New Yark business must have been quite successful, since
starting a brewery required a big investment bath for the purchase or construction of brewery buildings and cellars
as well as for acquiring equipment such as kettles, (ubs, grinders, etc. (Ernst 1949, 91). In 1869, Schnaderbeck’s
brewery, including the property on both lots 18 and 37, was valued at $20,000 (Tax assessments). At this juncture,
Schnaderbeck went back to Germany. The length of his absence was not determined, but he returned on the
steamship Bavarian from Hamburg in June 1861 (New York Times 1B61). His occupation on the ship's manifest was
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listed as "Kaufmann" (businessman). Since Schnaderbeck was nol listed on the ship’s manifest as a "Braumeister"
(brewer), and he and his partner's earlier businesses were as wine merchants, it is possible that neither had this
training. Perhaps he brought a master brewer back from Germany with him. Brewers were highly skilled and highly
paid, and there were "one or two cases" of brewers brought from Germany 1o oversee production in Williamsburg's
breweries (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1875). Was Charles Kroger, who came lo New York on the same ship as
Schnaderbeck and is named immediately after him on the passenger list, the same person who opened a lager
brewery in Philadelphia in 1875, and did he begin his career in America at Schnaderbeck's (New York Times 1861,

Rich 1903, 221)?

Schnaderbeck seems Lo have retired from the brewery ca. 1875, because his name no longer appears in the Brooklyn
Directory (Brookiyn Daily Eagle 1886). Instead, his son August, also a brewer, bul a mere stripling of 25 years old
in 1875, is listed at the "lager” address on Maujer Street for two years, until 1877-78 (the new street name is first
used in the 1871-72 Brooklyn Direciory, New York State Census 1875).

Schnaderbeck's family history is somewhat tortuous. The "rootsweb" site of the Schnaderbeck clan and others lists
his birth date as June 10, 1806 -- although the 1875 census records it as "about 1809". The website states that he was
born in Upstadt Bie Bruchsal, in Baden German, and died in 1881, in Farmingdale, This genealogical site also lists a
wife, Catherine, bom "about 1810", married (o Sebastian in 1835, and mother of Edward ("Ed") Schnaderbeck, born
in 1839, In 1854, a second (?) wife, Sara H. Zachary, is listed as a grantar of property to Sebastian (Liber 659, page
130, May 1, 1854 - EBSCO Digilal Archives). There were no other references to this person, also not in the
rootsweb list. No wife is listed living with Sebastian in 1875, but there were two new children, neither recognized by
the rootsweb site, both born in Kings County: August in 1850, and Harriet in 1852 (the 1875 New York State
Census lists her age as 23). Ed had evidently moved out by that time. In 1900 he was living in Oyster Bay, Nassau,
New York, where his younger (half?) brother had come to live with him (United States Census 1900), Ed continued
the family business. “Schnaderbeck & Runge" (Richard Runge) liquors is listed in Lain & Healy's Brooklyn & Long
Island Business Directory for 1897,

Two other bits of irrelevant but entertaining gossip concerning Schnaderbeck’s private life were reported in the
Brooklyn Daily Eagle. In January 1863, the servant girl managed to "mistake" arsenic for soda, pul it in the pudding,
and poisoned the family. Luckily, the doctor arrived in lime 10 save the family (Breoklyn Daily Eagle 1863). Then in
January 1873, an individual named only as "Miller", who was either staying or residing in Schnaderbeck's home,
died in his bed. The coroner's initial determination was death by natural causes, "latty accumulations around the
heart" (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1873A). But when a packet ol strychnine, from a Newark apothecary according lo the
label, was found "in the bed he laid on", the cause of death was changed to suicide. Apparently, Schnaderbeck had
known about the packet but "kept mum" as he said: "It was bad enough to have the old scoundrel die in my bed
without having any more bother about him" (Ibid.). These two unfortunate incidents give us some insight, perhaps,
into Schnaderbeck's character.

Schnaderbeck began brewing his lager when the business was still in its infancy. No doubt the Dutch and the
English began building home breweries from the moment they set foot in the New World -- the earliest recorded
brewery in Brooklyn dates ca. 1660 -- but lager beer was not introduced to the United States until 1840 (Rich 1903,
157, Schlagel 1976, 8). All beers are made with a fermented cereal, usually barley, and yeas!, which produces the
alcohol and the carbonation (carbon dioxide), The difference between lager and other beers is that the yeast for lager
ferments al the boltom of the vat, instcad of the tap. This requires a particular type of yeast and decp cellars, where
the brew could be aged at the required low temperature. Made in the winter and tapped in the summer, the refreshing
“summer" or "lager" beer -- after the German word for "storehouse” -- was lighter in color and more effervescent
than ale (Schlagel 1976, 6). Charles C. Wolf claimed thal his Philadelphia brewery was the first to produce lager on
@ large scale but credited John Wagner with bringing the “first fnger beer yeast to this country from a brewery in
Bavaria in which he had been brew master” (in 1840, Rich 1903, 157). Another brewer, George Manger obtained
some of Wagner's yeast and built a brewery in Philadelphia. His cellars, completed in 1845, were the first lager
vaults in the Uniled States, according to Wolf (1bid.).

Two businessmen laid claim to being the first lager brewers in New York City. The Bavarian George Gillig, who
brewed lager in 1844 in his brewery on Third Street between Avenues A and B, and the Prussian Frederick Schaefer
-- an enduringly famous name in the beer business -- who began making lager at a similar, though unspecified date,
in the early- to mid-1840s (Rich 1903, 158-159). At that time, the Schaefer Brewing Company was on 7th Avenue



in Manhattan between 16th and 17th Streets. Gillig apparently also owned a brewery in Williamsburg in the mid
1840s, but Rich (1903, 158) did not record its location.

The earliest lager beer breweries in Brooklyn were those of Nicolas Seitz, John Schneider and Samuel Liebmann
(Schlagel 1976, 18). Seitz's brewery on 13th Street and 7th Avenue was founded in 1843 and began producing lager
in 1850 (Rich 1903, 175-176). His son continued the business in the brewery on Maujer Street, a few blocks east of
the project site. John Schneider's Congress Brewing Company, on Meserole Street, put oul an impressive 5,000
barrels of lager in its first year, 1855, Samuel Liebmann's Sons began brewing lager in the same year as Schneider
(Rich 1903, 176; Schlagel 1976, 18). Schnaderbeck, whose lager brewery was established before 1860, was
therefore among the first in the business.

Widmann's description of breweries of his “second period", dated 1860-1880, corresponds roughly to the life of
Schnaderbeck's business (Widmann 1912, 29). Like the main building of Schnaderbeck's brewery on Maujer Street,
most breweries of this period had two to three stories. Unlike the breweries of the "pioneer days" before 1860,
whose plants were an "unsightly conglomeration of one-story structures”, those of the second period were more
design-conscious, employing the services of expert brewery and brewery cellar engineers and architects (Ibid.). The
advertisements of these builders may be found in trade journals such as The American Brewers' Gazette, The
American Brewer, The Brewers Journal and The Western Brewer: and Journal of the Barley, Malt and Hop Trades,
which published Widmann's paper. Widmann (Ibid.) makes particular mention of Stoll and Pfundt, in New Yark
City, describing them as the “pioneer architects and engineers of breweries". We know that Stoll was indeed an
inventor because he took out a patent in 1871 for an improved malt reservoir (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1871). Stoll
also advertised regularly in the trade journals. Unfortunately, it was not possible to link either of these brewery
architects or the many others who advertised in the trade journals in the 1870s and later to Schnaderbeck's vaults,
which must have been built in the 1850s, Widmann linked the new interest in the breweries' appearance with the
increase in beer consumption, which he thought would have inspired the creation of "more pleasing and
conspicuous" exteriors (Widmann 1912, 29).

Although the architectural history of the building still standing on Block 2671 lot 18 is not strictly speaking part of
this assessment, the historic map research conducted for the project site suggests that, with the exception of the
fourth story added in the 1890s, the facade of 34-36 Maujer Street may still be substantially the same as it was in the
1860s. The rear portion of the building, visible from Maujer Street, is three stories, There is no description of the
brewery's interior -- now converted Lo apartments -- but we may infer that it had a Bierstube, as common in such
establishments; a room with tables and chairs where people could sample the brewer's wares. Lager brewers
frequently operated saloons to serve their local, neighborhood market because before refrigeration was introduced,
lager quickly tost ils carbonation once the keg was tapped: afler one hour, it was "dead" (Schlagel 1976, 15,17,
Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1873B). If a brewer didn't operate his own lavern, he could supply nearby beer gardens and
restaurants, groceries, hotels or boarding houses" (Emst 1949, 91; Schlagel 1976, 15, (7). Schnaderbeck's tavern
must have been a fairly large space as it was used for political meelings involving numbers of attendees. For
instance, the delegates to the 8th Assembly District Republican Convention assembled in "Schnaderbeck's Hall" on
September 17, 1874 (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1874). In the '90s, as mentioned above, it served as a "Congress Hall".

There is equally no information about the original interior arrangements of the building that stood above the vaults,
but it probably included an ice house. During the period from ca. 1860-1880, scientists and brewers experimented
with different methods of refrigeration. The growth of the German population and the consequent increased demand
for beer gave brewers:astrong incentive to produce lager outside the winter months and improve the natural
refrigeration of their subterranean cellars (Rich 1903, 70). One innovation, for instance, was to introduce cold air
from the ice houses into the vaults "via shafts with regulating valves" (Schiagel 1976, 24), The " latest
improvements” that Schnaderbeck provided to his "old and extensive establishment" may have included the
modifications observed in'the vaults consisting of brick opening cut in the 10p and bottom of its end walls (Brooklyn
Daily Eagle 1870). These may have been intended to improve cold air circulation, in which case, the cold air would
have been supplied Trom an ice house above the vaults.

To understand how the ice was used, and in what quantities it was needed, il is necessary to describe briefly the beer
brewing processes. To make the wort, which would “feed" the yeast, barley was soaked in large vaults until it
germinated. The mixture was then boiled to halt germination, allowed to cool and dry, and ground into meal. The
meal was again mixed wilh warm water, which produced an enzyme called distase. Separating the meal from the
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solution produced the wort, which was added 1o the brew kettles and boiled. The distase changed to dextrin and
maltose. Other flavoring ingredients such as hops might be added to the brew kettles to create different flavorings,
Yeast, added las, fed on the sugars and produced alcohol and carbon dioxide. The mixture was again allowed to
cool, either in the wintry air or by passing the beer over pipes filled with ice water, and then sent to the fermenting
tubs in a cold cellar (Rich 1903, 193). This description was partly based on an un-named reporter's story for the
Brooklyn Daily Eagle about his visit to Henry Urban's Boulevard Brewery at the comer of Meserole Street and
Bushwick Avenue (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1875). The brewery, incidentally, ran an adjoining, family-style beer
garden, where people sang and danced and “Tyrolese Yodlers performed”. Guided by the German foreman, Charles
Keller, the reporter observed the "immense" vaults with their "well bricked but damp floor" containing the
fermenting tubs. This cellar was kept at 5 degraes Fahrenheit by packing ice around the floor, which used thousands
of tons monthly. After fermenting for ten to twelve days in the tubs, the mixture was pumped to the ice house and
placed in casks. The ice house was a brick building that also contained the wash house where the kegs were cleaned
and stored. Below the ice house there were three levels of slorage cellars, the lowest 54 feet underground.

The Boulevard Brewery's cellars were not even the deepest, The Brooklyn Daily Eagle (1870) reportcd that some
breweries had cellars up to 80 feet deep. Cellars had become a "prime necessity" to stock the breweries' ever-
expanding output: "...the demand for increased facilities to store larger quantities of the fluid is made year after year,
and still the cry is for more" (Ibid.). Breweries had "“as much or more space below the surface as above", and cellars
were "attached lo every brewery" (Ibid.)

The Huber Brewery, established in 1866 in a pre-existing facility formerly occupied by the Joerger brewery, had
storage cellars (hat "[underlay] the entire place", comprising approximately 300,000 cubic feet (Schlagel 1976, 58).
lts extensive former brewery building complex at 1 Bushwick Place, including a warehouse built in 1858, sold in
March 2015 for $26 million (Mauer 2015). It is currently occupied by music rehearsal and recording spaces as well
as a large beer hall and garden called "The Well". The bar's name may have been inspired by the artesian well that
existed on the property, providing the pure water for Otto Huber's beer.

The premises of the former Nassau. Brewing Company have extensive cellars that still exist and have been adapted
for commercial use. Located at 1042 Dean Street (block 1142, lot 40), the former brewery complex includes an
icehouse and brewery building as well as the lagering vaults. In addition to putting in new concrete floors and
stainless steel floor drains for the Parish Hill Creamery's cheese-aging operation in the cellar, the brewery's owners,
Benton Brown and Susan Boyle, have transformed the icehousc into green-focused lofts and the main building into a
space for small manufacturing und businesses (Cheese Reporter 2014, Krommydas 2014). Photographs published in
an online article about a beer-tasting event show vaults constructed quite differently from those on the project site
(Tbid.) They are all-brick, without stone foundations or end walls, and their lower and shallower ceilings are
supported by a series of broad arches resting on walls that project from the sides of the vault, Narrow wooden lintels
surmount the rectangular openings between the vaults. An arch built into the wall above the opening provided extra
support. Though similarly situated at the ends of the vaulls' long walls, these doorways are different from the arched
openings in the project site's vaults but similar in construction to the small opening cut into the top of the east wall
of vault 3 (Photograph 11). The lloors of the Nassau Brewing Company's vaults were also bricked but equipped, in
addition, with channels for drainage, something nol observed in the project site's vaults. Like the latter, there was no
access 1o the cellars, so Brown and Boyle installed a new set of stairs (Krommydas 2014).

Schlagel (1976} lists a few other breweries established ca, 1860, contemporary with Schnaderbeck's brewery, and
which must have had-oeliass;butitisnorknown whether the vaults still exist or in what condition. Further research
on this topic, beyond the scope of the present assessment, should include a survey of all the sites of former breweries
in Williamsburg that were in operation in the period ca. 1855-1880. It is an open question whether, given the depth
and the number of cellars that purportedly existed in the district, other vaults like those on the project site may still

be waiting underground to be rediscovered.

The proliferation of Yager breweries in the 15th and 16th wards from the mid 1850s reflects not only the
conceniration of German lager-drinkérs here but also the requirements of the manufacture (pure water, land for
building the plants), and its dispensing to cager local markets. Conversely, the introduction of refrigeration would
have permitted brewers to expand their markels and possibly driven smaller producers or those unable to keep up
with technological improvements out of business. These may well have included some among the thirty or forty
mostly small breweries that existed in 1875 but "[didn'(] tum out beer at regular periods or in large quantities"
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(Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1875). Although Schnaderbeck may have introduced more up-to-date methods of cooling his
cellars, as suggested by the brick modifications in the cellars’ stone end walls, these may not have been enough to
keep up with the larger and more technologically advanced producers. In addition, as mentioned, the brewery
business ate up a lot of capital. These Factors, logether with Schnaderbeck's retirement from the business and
possibly, his son's inability to keep it up, may have led to the Brewery's demise ca. 1878,



V1. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Williamsburg was one of the main centers of lager beer production in the United States in the 1860s and 1870s,
when Schnaderbeck's Brewery was in operation. Although his was not one of the larger operations, Schnaderbeck
was among the first 1o set up shop in the district, in the late 1850s, which also makes his vaulted cellars one of the
carliest, Several dozen brewery vaults must have existed in Williamsburg contemporary with Schnaderbeck's
brewery, and a few are known to have been much more extensive. But the only other extant lager cellars known to
this writer, belonging to the former Nassau Brewing Company, are quite differenl in construction from the vaults on
the project site and neither the Nassau Brewing Company's vaults, nor any other lager cellars in the district have
been properly documented. There is also no study regarding the construction of brewery vaults in Williamsburg or,
for thal malter in the rest of the cily.

This documentary study therefore concludes that the vaults are historically and architecturally significant and
recommends that they be preserved and made accessible. The most desirable scenurio would be to adapt the space
for suitable commercial uses such as those installed in the former Huber and Nassau Breweries described in Scction
V above. Reuse of the vaults would therefore be in sync with similar trends in the neighborhood's development and
in keeping with the historically mixed commercial / light manufacturing / residential uses of Williamsburg since its

inception.

In view of the lack of documentation of brewery vaults in Williamsburg and the rarity of brewery vaults in the
excellent state of preservation of those on the project site, this report recommends:

1. The preparation of photographic documentation and detailed architectural drawings according to HABS / HAER
standards and, when construction work on the project site is resumed:

2. Archaeological monitoring of excavations on the project site. Should additional subterranean structures or other
objects connected with the former brewery be uncovered, construction work would cease and the discovery reported
to the Landmarks Preservation Commission. New structures or other finds of archaeological significance would be
drawn and photographed, as required, and a written description of these submiltted to the LPC.

In the event that the vaults can not be preserved and made accessible this report recommends, as a further mitigation
measure, the creation of an additional research report as an addendum to the present study, consisting of a survey
both above and below ground, where possible, of the sites of former breweries in Williamsburg, and a detailed
description of the adaptive re-uses or integration of any vaulls, where preserved, in present-day structures.
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Fig. 1. Section of the Tux Map ol Block 2791 showing the location
of the Project Site on lot 37, Source: New York City Department of
Finance, 2015,
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Fig. 2. 1868 lligginson's map showing the location of the projegt site.
Source: Higginsou's lnsurance Maps of the City of Brooklyn. 25

Long Islund, New York: 111, Higginson, 1868, vol. 4, pl. 82. LTI
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Photograph 1. View of the project site looking south (o Ten Eyck Street.
Source: Celia J. Bergolfen Ph.). RILA,



Photograph 2. View of the opening on top of Vault 1.
Source: Celia J. Bergoffen 'h.D. R.P.A,



Photograph 3. View of the interior of Vault 1 looking west



Photograph 4. Vault I, view ol the western opening on the south wall.
Source: Celia J..Bergoffen Ph.D. R.PLAL
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Photograph 5. Vault 1, view of the castern opening on the south wall and
part of the west wall, Source: Celia I Bergolten Ph.D. R.PUAL



Photograplh 7. Looking north through the arched passageway on (he north wall
of Vault 2. Saurcce: Celia J, Bergotlfen Ph.DRPLA,



At
Photagraph 8, View ol the west wall of Vault 2. Source: Celia ),
Bergollen Ph.D. ROPLAL
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Photograph 9. View of the cast wall of Vault 2. Source: Celia 1.
Bergoffen Ph.D. R.PAL




Photograph 10, View of the west wall of Vault 3. Source: Celin
Bergoften Ph.DLRPA,

Photograph 11, View ol the vast wall of Vault 3. Source: Celia J.
Bergoften Ph.D. R.PUAL



Photograph 12, View of the north wall of Vaull 3. the arched opening into
faudt d, and the cast wall of Vault 3, Source: Celian J, Bergollen Ph.D. ROPLAL

Photograph 13, View of the avched opening in the south wall of Vaull 3,
looking south into Vuult 2. Seuree: Celia 1. Berzuffen Pho. ROPA.
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YUCO

February 24, 2016
33 Ten Eyck Street Vault Issue Summary

During excavation of the site, a series of underground vault structures was discovered down to
a depth of approx. 30 feet below grade and extending approx. 50’ x 100’ across the property,
and possibly onto adjacent site(s) as well. Upon discovery of the underground vault structures,
Yuco Builders LLC (‘Yuco') made a small opening to provide access into the vault spaces for
review of conditions by Yuco, NYC Dept. of Housing Preservation and Development (HPD),
NYC Housing Development Corporation (HDC), NYC Dept. of Buildings (DOB), NYC
Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC), as well as for financial institutions involved in this
project. All further excavation of the site and all other construction activities were suspended,
pending further study and agreement with HPD as to how best to proceed.

The size, condition and depth of the vault structures posed a challenging structural problem.
Yuco assembled an experienced and well-qualified team of engineers and consultants to assist
in investigating conditions and analyzing a range of structural options to provide a stable
foundation for a new building above.

Yuco Team:

Bong Yu, PC — Project Engineer

Demerara Engineering PLLC, Soils Engineer
Severud Associates - Structural Engineer
VJ Associates — Cost estimator

Celia Berghoffen - Archeologist

The Yuco team developed various schemes for review and discussion including:

1) demolishing the vault structures and backfilling the site with engineered compacted soil,
2) constructing a large concrete ‘mat’ foundation on top of the vaults, and

3) revising the building structural system to align with the main walls of the vault structure,

The preliminary schemes and associated cost estimates were reviewed and discussed with
HPD's engineering team, The priority was established that the vault structures should be.left
intact to the greatest extent possible if determined to be feasible within engineering and financial

parameters.

Based on the review and input from all parties, a ‘hybrid’ scheme was developed to construct a
series of reinforced concrete ‘grade’ beams on top of the vault structures, with supporting
concrete piers set directly on the vault walls. In order to validate the scheme and confirm
required conditions, site testing was completed including soils testing, core drilling and
additional selective excavation of the vault footings and walls positioned along the adjacent
property. It was determined that the existing vault structures could be left generally intact,
although 2 or 3 of the vaults would be filled with a lightweight concrete material, in order to
properly stabilize the structure.

Pagelof2



YUCO

Based on the additional information, Yuco's Engineering team further developed the final
proposed structural scheme prepared by Severud Associates and attached as Scheme A, which
accomplishes the structural solution utilizing the most efficient methods. The vault structures will
be left mostly intact except for openings at the top of the vaults, and at least one of the spaces
could be left intact for future historical preservation. VJ Associates reviewed the final scheme
and produced an updated detailed cost estimate based on the proposed construction. The
concrete grade beams were determined to be less costly than the earlier designed concrete
‘mat’ structure, and the method of construction being proposed would allow construction to
proceed along a more expedient timeline while also allowing for the maximum possible
preservation of the vaults,

Scheme A is the preferred scheme due to lower cost and faster completion schedule. Scheme B
would require labor-intensive work to be completed at the interior of the vault structures, and
would involve drilling into the vault walls.

Page 2 of 2
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